Deeside Orienteering Club Constitution

1. Title

The name of the club shall be Deeside Orienteering Club (subsequently referred to as the Club).

2. Aims

- 1. To promote, encourage and develop the sport of orienteering within Cheshire and Wirral, excluding that part of Cheshire to the east of the M6 motorway.
- 2. To maintain appropriate links with the North West Orienteering Association (NWOA) and British Orienteering.
- 3. To organise orienteering events within the geographical area defined above, and within other geographical areas as agreed with other orienteering clubs or regional orienteering associations.
- 4. To ensure that orienteering events that are organised by the Club follow British Orienteering's Rules and Guidelines.
- 5. The Club welcomes new members from all areas of the community. The Club will not discriminate on grounds of sex, age, disability, ethnicity, nationality, sexual orientation, religion or other beliefs (while recognising that orienteering is an adventure sport and many events will require a certain level of mobility).
- 6. The Club is intent that children and vulnerable adults will find orienteering a safe environment to have fun, learn and develop. It will do this by adopting and promoting the British Orienteering policy on protecting young and vulnerable people.

3. Officers

- The position of President need be filled only if there is an identifiable need for a
 President to be appointed and if a suitable candidate can be identified for the
 position. A prospective President shall be identified and nominated by the
 Management Committee of the Club, and elected by a majority vote at an Annual
 General Meeting.
- 2. A Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer of the Club shall be elected by a majority vote at each Annual General Meeting.
- 3. A Vice-Chairman shall be nominated by the Club's Management Committee from members of the Management Committee.
- 4. The Secretary or assistant shall record minutes of Annual General Meetings, Special General Meetings and Management Committee Meetings.
- 5. The Treasurer shall prepare accounts and balance sheets, which shall be audited and published at each Annual General Meeting.
- 6. Cheques and payments drawn on the Club's bank account shall be signed or, if electronically paid, authorised by any two from the following four: Chairman, Secretary, Treasurer and one Committee member nominated by the Management Committee.

4. Management Committee

1. Election of the Management Committee

The Club shall elect a Management Committee at each Annual General Meeting. The Management Committee shall comprise a Chairman, Secretary, Treasurer, Newsletter Editor and up to six other committee members.

2. Functions of the Management Committee

To manage the operation of the Club in such a way that the aims of the Club, as described in the Club's aims, are realised. In order to carry out this function, the Management Committee should meet at least six times per year.

To co-opt additional committee members as necessary. Co-opted committee members are not eligible to vote at Management Committee meetings.

To appoint sub-committees, as necessary, to carry out delegated functions. These functions might include, for example, co-ordination of fixtures and co-ordination of mapping.

To appoint individual Club Members, as necessary, to carry out delegated tasks. These tasks might include, for example, compilation of club statistics, equipment storage and map storage.

3. Quorum

A quorum at a Management Committee meeting shall comprise at least five committee members.

5. General Meetings

1. Annual General Meeting

An Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Club shall be held within four months of the end of the Club's financial year, namely 31 July. The AGM shall include reports from the Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer, the election of the following year's Management Committee, and the transaction of other business. An Auditor shall be appointed.

2. Special General Meeting

A Special General Meeting may be called at any time by the Management Committee or by written application by a quorum of Club Members to the Secretary. A Special General Meeting shall be held within six weeks of receipt of such an application.

3. Notice of meetings

At least two weeks notice must be given to all Club Members of a General Meeting. All proposals for discussion at a General Meeting shall be seconded and notified to the Secretary in writing at least two days before the meeting. All nominations for Management Committee members shall be notified to the Secretary at least two days before each AGM, nominees having indicated their willingness to stand for the position for which they are nominated. Nominations may be accepted from the floor of the meeting for any Management Committee positions for which nominations have not been received prior to the meeting.

4. Voting at General Meetings

All Club Members present aged 16 and over have one vote, except that a Group has only one vote. Voting at General Meetings shall be by a show of hands unless a secret ballot is requested by either the Chairman or by one third of those Club Members who are eligible to vote. The chairman shall cast the deciding vote in the event of a tie.

5. Quorum

A quorum of the Club shall comprise ten Club Members aged 16 and over or one fifth of the membership of the Club aged 16 and over, whichever is least. A Group, if present, shall count as one Club member.

6. Membership

- 1. Categories of membership (e.g. club, full, senior, junior, family, group) shall be consistent with NWOA's and British Orienteering's policies.
- 2. Life members of the Club shall be proposed by the Management Committee, and shall be elected by a two-thirds majority vote of those Club Members present at an Annual General Meeting.
- 3. Membership subscriptions shall be determined at the AGM each year and shall become due on 1 January following the AGM. Members who have not renewed their membership within two months of the due date will cease to be members of the Club.
- 4. Membership subscriptions shall be set at levels that do not pose a significant obstacle to participation.
- 5. An application for membership of the Club may be refused by a majority vote at a meeting of the Club's Management Committee.
- 6. The Management Committee may refuse membership and may expel current members, but only for good reason such as conduct or character likely to bring the Club or sport into disrepute. Prior to expulsion, the Club member shall be given a month's notice of the intended expulsion, and an opportunity to state his/her case before the Management Committee. An individual who has been refused membership or expelled may also appeal to the Club members at the next Annual General Meeting, or earlier at a Special General Meeting if the Management Committee believes that it is in the Club's interest to hold such a meeting.

7. All Members of the Club must accept that their membership details will be stored in electronic form, and may be made available to other Club Members electronically and on paper.

7. Property and Funds

- 1. The property and funds of the Club shall not be used for the direct or indirect private benefit of members other than as reasonably consistent with the aims of the Club. All surplus income or profits shall be reinvested in the Club.
- 2. The Club may provide sporting and related social facilities, sporting equipment, coaching, courses, insurance cover, medical treatment, expenses for travel to and participation in other clubs' events, post-event refreshments and other ordinary benefits of a Community Amateur Sports Club (CASC) as provided for in the Finance Act 2002.
- 3. The Club may also in connection with the orienteering purposes of the Club:
 - sell and supply food, drink and related sports clothing and equipment;
 - employ members (though not for participation) and remunerate them for providing goods and services, on fair terms set by the Management Committee without the person concerned being present;
 - pay for reasonable hospitality for visiting clubs, teams and guests.
- 4. The Club shall indemnify the Management Committee and members acting properly in the course of the running of the Club against any liability incurred in the proper running of the Club (but only to the extent of its assets).

8. Changes to the Constitution

This constitution shall not be altered or rescinded without the consent of two-thirds of voting Club Members present at an Annual General Meeting or at a Special General Meeting convened as described in Special General Meetings. Details of any proposed amendments shall be circulated to all Club Members before the meeting.

9. Financial Examiner

The financial examiner shall be required to audit the accounts of the Club prior to each year's AGM, and shall be given access to the Club's books, accounts, equipment, maps and property.

10. Safeguarding Children & At-risk Adults

- 1. The Club agrees to adopt the British Orienteering Safeguarding Policy & Procedures.
- 2. All individuals involved in orienteering through the Club at every level, including participants, Officials, Instructors/Coaches, Administrators, Club Officials or spectators (where it is feasible to manage) agree to abide by the British Orienteering Code of Ethics and Conduct ("Code") and all such individuals participating or being involved in orienteering through the Club in one of the aforementioned roles or in a role which comes within the intended ambit of this

paragraph and the British Orienteering Safeguarding Policy & Procedures generally are deemed to have assented to and as such recognise and adhere to the principles and responsibilities embodied in the Code.

3. Each and every constituent member of the Club including without limitation all clubs and disciplines, shall be responsible for the implementation of the British Orienteering Safeguarding Policy and Procedures in relation to their members.

11. Dissolution of the Club

- Any decision to dissolve the Club shall be taken at a General Meeting and must be passed with the consent of two-thirds of voting Club Members at the meeting. The Management Committee will then be responsible for the orderly winding up of the Club's affairs.
- 2. After settling all liabilities of the Club, the Management Committee shall dispose of the assets remaining to one or more of the following:
 - another Club with similar orienteering purposes which is a registered charity;
 - another Club with similar orienteering purposes which is a registered CASC;
 - the relevant regional association of the national governing body of orienteering;
 - the national governing body itself.